
EXECUTIVE SERVICES 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Chief Executive
Julie Beilby BSc (Hons) MBA

Gibson Building
Gibson Drive
Kings Hill, West Malling
Kent ME19 4LZ
West Malling (01732) 844522

NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process.

Contact: Committee Services
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk

27 June 2017

To: MEMBERS OF THE AREA 2 PLANNING COMMITTEE
(Copies to all Members of the Council)

Dear Sir/Madam

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Area 2 Planning Committee to be held 
in the Civic Suite, Gibson Building, Kings Hill, West Malling on Wednesday, 5th July, 
2017 commencing at 7.30 pm. Deposited plans will be available for Members' inspection 
for half an hour before the start of the meeting.

Yours faithfully

JULIE BEILBY

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

PART 1 - PUBLIC

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

Public Document Pack



3. Minutes 5 - 6

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of Area 2 Planning 
Committee held on 24 May 2017 

Decisions to be taken by the Committee

4. Development Control 7 - 10

Introduction and Glossary 

5. TM/16/03630/OA - Nepicar Sand Quarry, Maidstone Road, Platt 11 - 38

6. TM/17/00798/FL - Land at Long Wood, Off Crouch Lane, 
Borough Green 

39 - 50

7. TM/17/01167/FL - 3 St Hildas, Plaxtol 51 - 62

8. Urgent Items 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

Matters for consideration in Private

9. Exclusion of Press and Public 63 - 64

The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 

PART 2 - PRIVATE

10. Urgent Items 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 



MEMBERSHIP

Cllr Mrs F A Kemp (Chairman)
Cllr S R J Jessel (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr Mrs J A Anderson
Cllr M A C Balfour
Cllr Mrs S M Barker
Cllr R P Betts
Cllr M A Coffin
Cllr Mrs S L Luck
Cllr B J Luker
Cllr P J Montague

Cllr L J O'Toole
Cllr S C Perry
Cllr H S Rogers
Cllr Miss J L Sergison
Cllr T B Shaw
Cllr Miss S O Shrubsole
Cllr M Taylor



This page is intentionally left blank



AP 1

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

AREA 2 PLANNING COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 24th May, 2017

Present: Cllr Mrs F A Kemp (Chairman), Cllr S R J Jessel (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr M A C Balfour, Cllr R P Betts, Cllr M A Coffin, Cllr Mrs S L Luck, 
Cllr B J Luker, Cllr P J Montague, Cllr S C Perry, Cllr H S Rogers, 
Cllr T B Shaw and Cllr M Taylor

Councillor N J Heslop was also present pursuant to Council 
Procedure Rule No 15.21.

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors 
Mrs J A Anderson, Mrs S M Barker, L J O'Toole and 
Miss J L Sergison

PART 1 - PUBLIC

AP2 17/24   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest in accordance with the Code of 
Conduct.  However, for reasons of transparency Councillor M Balfour 
reminded the Committee that he was the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Transport at Kent County Council.  As this did not 
represent either an Other Significant Interest or a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest there was no requirement to withdraw from the meeting.

AP2 17/25   MINUTES 

RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 2 Planning 
Committee held on 12 April 2017 be approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman.

DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 3, PART 3 OF THE 
CONSTITUTION

AP2 17/26   DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 

Decisions were taken on the following applications subject to the pre-
requisites, informatives, conditions or reasons for refusal set out in the 
report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health or 
in the variations indicated below.  Any supplementary reports were 
tabled at the meeting. 

Members of the public addressed the meeting where the required notice 
had been given and their comments were taken into account by the 
Committee when determining the application.  Speakers are listed under 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



AREA 2 PLANNING COMMITTEE 24 May 2017

2

the relevant planning application shown below.  

AP2 17/27   TM/16/03763/FL - QUARRY HOUSE, 81 QUARRY HILL ROAD, 
BOROUGH GREEN 

Demolition of existing office building and the erection of 10 residential 
dwellings. Access from existing Quarry Hill Roundabout, provision of 
public open space, works associated with de-culverting and diversion of 
the watercourse, sustainable urban drainage systems; associated 
landscaping, infrastructure and earthworks at Quarry House, 81 Quarry 
Hill Road, Borough Green. 

RESOLVED:  That planning permission be REFUSED for the following 
reason:

(1)  The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt where there is a 
strong presumption against permitting inappropriate development, 
as defined in paragraphs 89 and 90 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2012.  The proposed development insofar as it 
relates to Plots 9 and 10 comprises inappropriate development 
which is by definition harmful to the Metropolitan Green Belt.  In 
addition, these dwellings which are proposed on an open, 
undeveloped part of the site would cause clear material harm to 
the open nature and function of the Green Belt.  No very special 
circumstances exist which would be sufficient to clearly outweigh 
the degree of harm caused to the Metropolitan Green Belt.  As 
such, the proposed development is contrary to the requirements 
of Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and 
Policy CP3 of the Tonbridge and Malling Borough Core Strategy 
2007.

[Speakers:  Dr M Simons (on behalf of Borough Green Medical Centre), 
Mrs T Dawson (Member of the Public) and Mr H Edwards (on behalf of 
the applicant)]

AP2 17/28   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

There were no items considered in private.

The meeting ended at 8.20 pm

Page 6



1

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES

Report of the Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health

Part I – Public

Section A – For Decision

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
In accordance with the Local Government Access to Information Act 1985 and the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), copies of background papers, including 
representations in respect of applications to be determined at the meeting, are available 
for inspection at Planning Services, Gibson Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill from 08.30 
hrs until 17.00 hrs on the five working days which precede the date of this meeting.

Members are invited to inspect the full text of representations received prior to the 
commencement of the meeting.

Local residents’ consultations and responses are set out in an abbreviated format 
meaning: (number of letters despatched/number raising no objection (X)/raising objection 
(R)/in support (S)).

All applications may be determined by this Committee unless (a) the decision would be in 
fundamental conflict with the plans and strategies which together comprise the 
Development Plan; or (b) in order to comply with Rule 15.24 of the Council and Committee 
Procedure Rules.

GLOSSARY of Abbreviations and Application types 

used in reports to Area Planning Committees as at 23 September 2015

AAP Area of Archaeological Potential
AODN Above Ordnance Datum, Newlyn
AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
APC1 Area 1 Planning Committee 
APC2 Area 2 Planning Committee 
APC3 Area 3 Planning Committee 
ASC Area of Special Character
BPN Building Preservation Notice
BRE Building Research Establishment
CA Conservation Area
CPRE Council for the Protection of Rural England
DEFRA Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



2

DETR Department of the Environment, Transport & the Regions
DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government
DCMS Department for Culture, the Media and Sport 
DLADPD Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document 
DMPO Development Management Procedure Order
DPD Development Plan Document 
DPHEH Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health
DSSL Director of Street Scene & Leisure
EA Environment Agency
EH English Heritage
EMCG East Malling Conservation Group
FRA Flood Risk Assessment
GDPO Town & Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 

Order 2015
GPDO Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 2015
HA Highways Agency
HSE Health and Safety Executive
HMU Highways Management Unit
KCC Kent County Council
KCCVPS Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards
KDD Kent Design (KCC)  (a document dealing with housing/road 

design)
KWT Kent Wildlife Trust
LB Listed Building (Grade I, II* or II)
LDF Local Development Framework
LLFA Lead Local Flood Authority
LMIDB Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board
LPA Local Planning Authority
LWS Local Wildlife Site
MAFF Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food
MBC Maidstone Borough Council
MC Medway Council (Medway Towns Unitary Authority)
MCA Mineral Consultation Area
MDEDPD Managing Development and the Environment Development 

Plan Document
MGB Metropolitan Green Belt
MKWC Mid Kent Water Company
MWLP Minerals & Waste Local Plan
NE Natural England
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
PC Parish Council
PD Permitted Development
POS Public Open Space
PPG Planning Policy Guidance 
PROW Public Right Of Way

Page 8



3

SDC Sevenoaks District Council
SEW South East Water
SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (prepared as background to 

the LDF)
SNCI Site of Nature Conservation Interest
SPAB Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings
SPD Supplementary Planning Document (a statutory policy 

document supplementary to the LDF)
SPN Form of Statutory Public Notice
SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest
SWS Southern Water Services
TC Town Council
TCAAP Tonbridge Town Centre Area Action Plan
TCS Tonbridge Civic Society
TMBC Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council
TMBCS Tonbridge & Malling Borough Core Strategy (part of the Local 

Development Framework)
TMBLP Tonbridge & Malling Borough Local Plan
TWBC Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
UCO Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 (as 

amended)
UMIDB Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board
WLP Waste Local Plan (KCC)

AGPN/AGN Prior Notification: Agriculture
AT Advertisement
CA Conservation Area Consent (determined by Secretary 

of State if made by KCC or TMBC)
CAX Conservation Area Consent:  Extension of Time
CNA Consultation by Neighbouring Authority
CR3 County Regulation 3 (KCC determined)
CR4 County Regulation 4
DEPN Prior Notification: Demolition
DR3 District Regulation 3
DR4 District Regulation 4
EL Electricity
ELB Ecclesiastical Exemption Consultation (Listed Building)
ELEX Overhead Lines (Exemptions)
FC Felling Licence
FL Full Application
FLX Full Application:  Extension of Time
FLEA Full Application with Environmental Assessment
FOPN Prior Notification: Forestry
GOV Consultation on Government Development
HN Hedgerow Removal Notice
HSC Hazardous Substances Consent

Page 9



4

LB Listed Building Consent (determined by Secretary of State if 
made by KCC or TMBC)

LBX Listed Building Consent:  Extension of Time
LCA Land Compensation Act - Certificate of Appropriate 

Alternative Development
LDE Lawful Development Certificate: Existing Use or Development
LDP Lawful Development Certificate: Proposed Use or 

Development
LRD Listed Building Consent Reserved Details
MIN Mineral Planning Application (KCC determined)
NMA Non Material Amendment
OA Outline Application
OAEA Outline Application with Environment Assessment
OAX Outline Application:  Extension of Time
RD Reserved Details
RM Reserved Matters (redefined by Regulation from August 

2006)
TEPN56/TEN Prior Notification: Telecoms
TNCA Notification: Trees in Conservation Areas
TPOC Trees subject to TPO
TRD Tree Consent Reserved Details
TWA Transport & Works Act 1992 (determined by Secretary of 

State)
WAS Waste Disposal Planning Application (KCC determined)
WG Woodland Grant Scheme Application

Page 10



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Platt
Borough Green And 
Long Mill

27 April 2017 TM/16/03630/OA

Proposal: Outline Application including details of access: New access 
road from the East side of Platt Industrial Estate, through 
Nepicar sandpit to join the A25 Maidstone Road

Location: Nepicar Sand Quarry Maidstone Road Platt Sevenoaks Kent 
TN15 7SJ 

Applicant: Platt Parish Council
Go to: Recommendation

1. Description:

1.1 The application is in outline with only “access” being detailed (appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale being reserved) and is for a new link road intended 
for use by all vehicles from the private access that leads into Platt Industrial Estate 
to the A25 at the entrance to Nepicar Sand quarry (rather than adjacent to no.1 
Whatcote Cottages as at present). 

1.2 The proposed access road is indicated to have a length of approx. 600m. It is 
shown to pass for approx. 160m through a compound for an aggregates 
distribution company on the east side of Platt Industrial Estate. The proposed 
access road then needs to be aligned on a raised embankment to cross a wooded 
area for 85m, then for a further 355m, it is shown to run through the Nepicar 
Quarry (sandpit). It is shown to align on an embankment 100m long down to the 
base of the currently active sand quarry, going past the 
processing/screening/loading and weighbridge area and thereafter sharing the 
existing sandpit access to the A25 which is to the east of Askew Bridge. 

1.3 The proposed new link road scales at approx. 5m in total width (assumed to be a 
4.8m carriageway with kerbs) widening to bellmouths at both ends. That width is 
not wide enough for 2 HGVs to pass but no passing places are indicated and the 
c.5m width continues around the radius of a tight bend at the Nepicar end. The 
ramp up from the Industrial Estate scales at 25m long and the ramp down to the 
sandpit base scales at 100m long, necessitating a 2m cut at the woodland side 
and a 5m build up from the sandpit. The overall drop from the woodland to the 
base of the sandpit is in the order of 10m and the ramp is shown to be 1 in 10 
gradient. The ramp steepness on the Industrial Estate side is not indicated on the 
submission.

1.4 The ecology/tree reports state that the trees to be removed in the path of the new 
road would be silver birch only (it states 11 in number) plus some conifer 
plantation trees next to the Industrial Estate boundary. It states that 2 oak trees on 
the common boundary with the Nepicar Sandpit would not be affected but that is 
not entirely consistent with the indicated size and shape of the ramp which may 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

involve significant land level changes in the vicinity of those oak trees. There is no 
clear evidence of protected species, but the applicant states that further ecological 
surveys would be carried out in a future full application.  

1.5 The Transport Assessment indicates that the traffic flows to the existing Industrial 
Estate are 88 vehicles per hour inward and 24 per hour outward in morning peak. 
These figures at the eastern access point need to be added to the existing traffic 
use of the Nepicar Sandpit, as the application intends that only pedestrians would 
continue to use the existing access to the A25 at no. 1 Whatcote Cottages and all 
other vehicles (both private cars, delivery vehicles, emergency and refuse 
collection vehicles and commercial traffic) would have to use this new access link. 

1.6 The TA indicates that most traffic that enters the existing Industrial Estate in the 
peak morning period comes from the east (75 compared to 12) and most exits 
eastbound (16 compared to 8). No evening peak traffic data was submitted.

1.7 The TA also indicates the similar pattern is expected for the morning peak at 
Nepicar junction with the proposed new road with 84 (inbound) and 80 (outbound) 
related to the east compared to 22 (inbound) and 27 (outbound) related to the 
west.

1.8 The supporting statements make the following points: 

 Discussions have been held over several years with the relevant landowners 
including Roger Body, Borough Green Sandpit, Prime Securities and Simon 
Clubb, and they are fully aware that this application is being lodged. 

 The concept is also lodged as part of the Local Plan evidence, and will be 
lodged again in future consultations. 

 The concept is to provide a new private relief road from the existing site to the 
entrance of Nepicar sandpit to the East of Askew Bridge. The sandpit entrance 
was designed with modern vision and HGV splays, and eastbound incoming 
traffic has a dedicated right turn lane. HGVs can enter and exit the site without 
the hazard of using both lanes. 

 It is proposed that the existing access would be completely closed off, except 
for the pedestrians using the PROW. That would eliminate all traffic from using 
or leaving at the site in the vicinity of Whatcote Cottages/Grange Road, 
diverting the vehicular activity 300m to the east. 

 Details of the route and construction are a matter for agreement between the 
landowners and further detailed RM applications. 

 The new entrance would remove all the above problems from the village of St 
Mary's Platt and would promote significant improvements in Highway Safety on 
the A25. 

Page 12



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

 The current junction is unsafe, an unacceptable level of risk if there is a viable 
alternative.

 The current access could hamper economic development in the area. 

 It generates unacceptable levels of Air Pollution, noise, and dirt on the road, 
and has a severe impact on the quality of life of the local residents at Whatcote 
Cottages and Maidstone Rd. 

 Increases the hazard for pupils and parents attending Platt Primary School. 

 The existing exit is across a narrow old stone bridge that is not wide enough to 
accommodate HGVs passing, and Network Rail advise that it has a current 40t 
limit, which while not currently enforced, could also hamper HGV access. 
Network Rail Asset Management is currently investigating the unstable 
sandstone cliff of the railway cutting, and this may impact on the bridge weight 
limit. 

 The Exceptional Circumstance required for the use of Greenbelt land are the 
improvements in Highway Safety, Air Quality, and noise levels, and the lifting 
of current restrictions that limit the economic development of the estate.

 In response to a query over the consequence for Bridge strikes, the applicant 
states these are caused by two types of HGV - through vehicles which should 
have been diverted by long distance warning signs at Western Road and 
Wrotham Heath. They state that the local risk of bridge strikes is from the 
double-deckers used by parcel companies, who currently have to exit west and 
through Borough Green.  

 In response to a query over the consequence of sterilising mineral deposits, 
the applicants envisage that the route can be varied to suit the operators’ 
program and its alignment is not intended to be permanent. 

2. Reason for reporting to Committee:

2.1 A departure from the Local Plan and a high level of local interest.

3. The Site:

3.1 The application site is within the countryside being 125 m from the rural settlement 
of Platt. It is within the Metropolitan Green Belt and lies over a Water Catchment 
Area. Maidstone Road is a Classified Road (A25).  

3.2 The site is allocated in the DLA DPD as a Major Developed Site in the Green Belt 
(Policy M1) with site specific caveats identified (Policy M1(3)(c)), Other 
Employment Land (Policy E2) and Vacant Sites Allocated for Employment 
Development (Policy E3).  

Page 13



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

3.3 A Public Right of Way (PROW) MR251 runs north-south along the access road to 
the Estate and a second PROW (MR291) runs east-west and follows north of the 
railway line to the A25 at Askew Bridge and then across the entrance to Nepicar 
Sandpit.

3.4 Platt Industrial Estate comprises a range of commercial and business uses 
in designated employment land and there is also designated future employment 
land. The existing access southwards to the A25 adjacent Whatcote Cottages also 
serves the active sand quarry operations at Borough Green Sandpit. It has a steep 
gradient rising from north to south and passes over a bridge (4.6m width) to the 
main Ashford to London Victoria railway line which is set in a cutting. 

3.5 The part of the Industrial Estate that marks the western extent of the proposed link 
road comprises the middle of 3 adjacent access points. Two are to commercial 
yards and one is to an office complex. The proposal would coincide with the 
alignment of the access into a busy aggregate distribution depot that is approx. 4m 
wide and is used for ingressing and egressing aggregate lorries, staff and visitor 
vehicles with no passing places. The one way system of the depot would also 
cross the line of the proposed link road. 

3.6 Nepicar Quarry is an active sandpit that has planning permission from KCC to 
extract sand until 2030. Part of the alignment of the new road would be on land 
that has been restored (with no infilling) but the proposed new road and its ramp 
would cut across the active processing/screening/loading area and the area where 
lorries taking the sand off site have to be weighed. 

3.7 The wooded area on a plateau above and between the Industrial Estate and the 
sandpit is mainly silver birch. There are some oak standards on the eastern edge 
and a power line runs north-south through it. 

3.8 To the north of the Industrial Estate, but south of the railway line and sharing the 
existing access to the A25, are 2 dwellings and a barn which is currently being 
converted to a residence.

3.9 Further from the application site but relevant to the planning merits quoted by the 
applicant are the junction with Grange Road and Platt Common and dwellings 
fronting the A25. Close to the A25 on its north side is a series of 19 terraced 
properties known as 1-19 (incl) Whatcote Cottages which have no onsite parking 
and a further dwelling of Holly Lodge. A number of other nearby dwellings on the 
south side of the A25 are generally set further from the A25 with the exception of 
some properties at Pine View  cul de sac which are closer.  Platt School currently 
is on the south side of the A25 (Members will be aware that the school has a 
planning permission to relocate to the north side of the A25, to the west of the 
existing access). To the west of the existing access is the newly constructed 
Memorial Hall for the village and the new playing fields and parking serving Platt 
School off a new access called Platinum Way and close to a new traffic light 
controlled pedestrian crossing to the west of the existing access. It is understood 

Page 14



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

that some parents park at Platinum Way and walk their children to and from Platt 
School and the footways of the A25 on this stretch that are relatively narrow. The 
area in front of Whatcote Cottages on the A25 is heavily parked with private cars, 
many of which are parked on the footway itself. In essence there is a lot of 
educational, community and residential uses having a close juxtaposition with the 
A25 near its existing junction with Platt Industrial Estate.

3.10 The railway bridge Askew Bridge crosses the A25, midway between the existing 
access and the intended replacement access if this proposal were to be 
implemented. 

3.11 The dwellings near the Nepicar junction include Askew Bridge Cottages and a 
dwelling called North Downs and there is opposite the (currently unlawful) Gypsy 
Traveller site at Askew Bridge.

4. Planning History (relevant):

62/10836/OLD Alternative reference: MK/4/62/95,,
Particulars of Overhead Lines. Wrotham and Platt
Grant With Conditions 8 May 1962

65/10532/OLD Alternative reference: MK/4/65/552,,
Weller Engineering Ltd Platt Industrial Estate 
Grant With Conditions 10 November 1965

77/11136/FUL Alternative reference: TM/76/947,,
Polkacrest Platt Industrial Estate Enclosure of part of site to provide a storage and 
distribution depot for liquid petroleum gas.
Refuse 30 March 1977

77/10545/FUL Alternative reference: TM/77/812,,
Calor Engineering Platt Industrial Estate 
Enclosure of part of site as a storage and distribution depot for liquid petroleum 
gas in cylinders.
Grant With Conditions 21 October 1977

92/00544/DHSC Alternative reference: HS/92/0004/DHSC
Calor Engineering Limited Platt Industrial Estate 
Deemed Hazardous Substances Application: storage of up to 299 tonnes of 
liquefied petroleum gases
Grant With Conditions 4 December 1992

93/00911/MIN Alternative reference: TM/93/1595MIN
Nepicar Farm Maidstone Road Platt Sevenoaks Kent
Extraction of sand for use in the manufacture of calcium silicate bricks
Grant With Conditions 1 July 1994

94/00942/MIN Alternative reference: TM/94/1353MIN

Page 15



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Nepicar Farm Maidstone Road Platt Sevenoaks Kent
details of the construction of the screen bunding adjacent to Askew Bridge 
Cottages submitted
pursuant to conditions 18 and 21 of permission M/93/1595MIN extraction of sand 
for use in the
manufacture of calcium silicate bricks and for general building purposes
Grant 8 December 1994

99/00102/FL Alternative reference:
Calor Engineering Platt Industrial Estate 
Application under S73A change of use from B1 & B2 uses to B8 storage (recovery 
and storage of motor vehicles)
Section 73A Approved 26 March 1999

98/01815/MIN Alternative reference:
Nepicar Sand Quarry 
the continued extraction of sand, restoration of the land to agriculture and 
woodland and the
provision of a haul route to Park Farm Quarry (KCC ref: TM/98/Min/Q)
Grant With Conditions 13 October 1999

05/00120/FL Alternative reference:
Platt Industrial Estate Maidstone Road 
Change of use of land to the storage, valeting and distribution of vehicles; 
construction of temporary office buildings; 2 car washes; 2 storage buildings; 2 
WCs
Grant With Conditions 10 March 2005

08/02653/MIN Alternative reference:
Nepicar Sand Quarry Maidstone Road 
Amendments to the scheme of working as a consequence of not constructing the 
haul road to Park Farm Quarry through Nepicar Sand Quarry and resubmission of 
details of quarry dust attenuation scheme at Nepicar Sand Quarry pursuant to 
condition 29 of planning permission 

TM/98/01815/MIN:
Continued extraction of sand, restoration of the land to agriculture and woodland 
and the provision of a haul route to Park Farm Quarry (KCC ref: 
TM/08/TEMP/0054)
Split Decision 23 December 2008

15/01636/MIN 
Nepicar Sand Quarry Maidstone Road 
A section 73 application to revise the existing working, landscaping and restoration 
scheme pursuant to condition 19 of planning application TM/98/815 (KCC ref: 
KCC/TM/0141/2015)
Approved 21 July 2016

Page 16



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

5. Consultees:

5.1 PC- The PC is the applicant.

5.2 Environment Agency: No objection- Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in 
this location because the proposed development site is within Source Protection 
Zone 3 and is located upon a Principal aquifer. Planning permission could be 
granted, subject to conditions on contamination and control over surface water 
drainage into the ground. Without these conditions we would object to the proposal 
in line with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework because it 
cannot be guaranteed that the development will not be put at unacceptable risk 
from, or be adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water pollution.

5.3 KCC (Minerals and Waste):  It is considered that the application has limited 
information, in that there remains questions on the timing of the proposed road 
construction and how that may impact on the lawful operations and final 
restoration configuration at the Nepicar Sand Quarry. The new road proposals are 
also somewhat sketchy. Nepicar Sand Quarry has been and still is the subject of 
planning permission to extract the mineral reserve over a number of years. The 
arrangements for phased working and restoration were recently amended with 
planning permission TM/15/1636. It is not envisaged that extraction and 
restoration would be completed until sometime after 2030, with the removal of the 
processing plant (including the extraction of the sand reserves that lay 
underneath) being one of the last operations. There is no indication in the 
application details as to when it is intended that a new road through the site would 
be constructed and the County Council could not see this being possible until after 
the site is fully worked without seriously compromising the approved mineral 
extraction. To build the road prior to completion of extraction would sterilise a 
quantity of mineral (exact quantity unknown) and would be contrary to paragraph 
142 of the National Planning Policy Framework (section 13, page 32-36: 
Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals). Finite mineral resources should be 
safeguarded and used to support sustainable economic growth.

5.3.1 Moreover, the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (KWMLP) 
specifically safeguards economic mineral resources (regardless of whether there 
is planning permission for their extraction) from unnecessary sterilisation (Policy 
CSM 5). Planning permission for non-minerals development that is incompatible 
with minerals safeguarding should only be granted in certain circumstances as set 
out in Policy DM 7 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources). Sub-heading 3 of Policy DM 
7 does allow for the extraction of the mineral prior to the non-minerals 
development taking place, and the County Council would wish to see that 
approach followed here.  The County Council is also concerned about the 
proposed route through Nepicar Farm Quarry to the Industrial Estate. Although 
probably the most direct route, consideration should have been given to using the 
route previously proposed in planning permission TM/98/1815 which would have 
served Park Farm Quarry. Although that alignment was subsequently not used as 

Page 17



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

a related permission TM/95/1708 at Park Farm Quarry was never implemented, 
the route itself remains reflected in the permitted restoration scheme and 
associated landform for Nepicar Farm Quarry.  On the basis of the above and with 
the lack of detail in the application, the County Council as Minerals and Waste 
Planning Authority is not in a position to support this proposal.

5.3.2 Updated comments: The terms of the potential planning permission with conditions 
ensures sufficient confidence that mineral reserves would not be needlessly 
sterilised by the non-mineral development thereby the County Council would not 
wish to object on policy terms with regard to mineral safeguarding (Policy CSM 5); 
provided of course, that the terms of such a conditional planning permission are 
adhered to. Given that the quarry operator is not the applicant for this 
development, and is very probably wanting to ensure full exploitation of the 
mineral reserves permitted it is reasonable to anticipate that the access road 
development could not be progressed until all permitted minerals are extracted.

5.4 KCC (Highways and Transportation); No objection to the principle of an alternative 
access as proposed. Passing bays should be included, at least on the 200m 
stretch across the quarry to allow goods vehicles to pass. I also consider there are 
local and emergency access issues associated with a full closure of the current 
Platt Industrial Estate road that requires clarification/confirmation from residents 
and services that this is acceptable. I also note the applicant’s comments 
regarding the height of vehicles used by some tenants within the estate and the 
routing implications this may have with respect to the askew bridge between the 
two access locations. It occurs that a more flexible approach may be more 
suitable, namely not allowing HGV egress from a point just north of Hollymount 
House and repeating this message at the railway bridge on the private Platt 
Industrial Estate road. This approach offers more flexibility for local access and 
reduces the potential for bridge strikes from the west (eastbound on the A25). I am 
aware that bridge strikes to the Askew Bridge have been an issue and I 
understand that the bridge is monitored by Network Rail.

5.5 KCC (PROW)- no objection however we would like to see some signs erected to 
make walkers aware of vehicles, and signs to make vehicles aware of pedestrians. 
Also like a zebra crossing or another type of pedestrian crossing considered at 
MR290.

5.6 Certificate B responses: One landowner objection:

 No consultation from Platt PC despite what their Design and Access Statement 
says.

 Request to Platt PC that points out this and other misleading statements and 
request for further information and clarification have gone unanswered.

Page 18



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

 This is MGB and we were refused planning permission on appeal in 2003 to 
extend the hardstanding, a road is the same as a tarmac hardstanding so we 
would expect an approval too.

 If planning permission were granted and the scheme funded, then it should 
skirt around our compounds to be less disruptive. 

 We would expect compensation.

5.7 Private Reps (114/57S/0X/9R) + Departure and PROW site and press notice

5.8 One petition from Platt Primary school in support with 83 signatures

5.8.1 Support (56 letters) summarised as follows:

 Will constant reduce noise from lorries very early in the morning until late at 
night.

 Fumes are pumped out constantly. 

 Will remove danger to school children and pedestrians from HGV's pulling out 
where the road and pavements are narrow. 

 Current entrance is now woefully unfit for purpose, cannot sustain any further 
growth and carries significant amounts of risks, daily, whilst in operation.

 Capacity, public safety, noise/air pollution and future growth should make this 
a straightforward decision. 

 Getting in and out of Platt Common during busy periods (rush hour/school pick 
up) is extremely hard with the volume of traffic and made worse by the large 
lorries along the A25 that are waiting to turn into Platt Industrial Estate.

 The present access from the A25 in the heart of the village, close to the 
school, village hall and local residences, causes many serious issues. 

 Poor sight lines make this a dangerous junction for the vehicles themselves.

 Our properties are shaking and the roads crumbling from the huge weight of 
lorries hurtling along the A25 at 50+miles per hour.

 Over the last five years traffic accessing Platt Industrial Estate has increased 
significantly. 

 When it is raining pedestrians are absolutely soaked by spray. 

 Lorries turning left from the industrial estate have to straddle the central road 
markings, bringing all traffic to a standstill whilst making this manoeuvre. A 

Page 19



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

lady walking her children to school was hit by one such vehicle turning right 
into the industrial estate. It is only a matter of time before someone is seriously 
injured, if not killed. 

 It is all very well approving plans to increase the size of this industrial estate, 
however in doing so you owe a duty of care to local residents, school children 
and road users to ensure their safety as a priority.

 Lorries mount the kerb trying to exit the current industrial estate entrance 
which is terrifying for parents/pedestrians. The current A25 running through 
Platt village is an accident waiting happen; please don't let a child die before 
something is done.

 I need to wash my car at least once a week as the dust from those trucks is 
unbelievable and often making cars so dirty so I can't see nothing in the side 
mirror.

 Will bring major health benefits to Platt’s beleaguered residents. 

 Current noise levels from vehicles leaving via the existing access road are 
recognised as being far in excess of those recommended by the WHO, BSI 
and Defra for healthy living especially as they move up through the gears. This 
disrupts sleep patterns.  

 Air pollution generated by vehicles associated with Platt Industrial Estate is a 
serious concern. 

 Exhaust fumes and, high volumes of sand particles, including deadly 
particulates that are suspended in the atmosphere by general traffic flows. 

 A new access road is perfect opportunity to continue the development of Platt 
Industrial Estate, thus creating jobs, and of vital importance, 

 Would greatly improve our quality of life and our physical and mental 
wellbeing. 

 The mud on the roads in winter is absolutely abhorrent.

 Whatcote Cottages have no place to park.

 Winter months cars are covered in mud and summer with a fine cover of dust 
causing a danger to drivers who have to stand and clean their car windows 
and mirrors every morning before leaving for the day. 

 Will improve the lives of the local community instead of improving the money 
making ability of the industrial estate at the expense of residents. 

  Cannot have the front windows open because of the dirt in the air. 

Page 20



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

 Double glazed throughout but the noise is dreadful and vibrations from the 
lorries passing outside. 

 Lorries beeping as they reverse repeatedly. 

 Children ill with upper respiratory tract infection due to the dirt particles in the 
air. 

 Fifteen children living in Whatcote Cottages who all have to cross Maidstone 
road to go to school. 

 Simply relocating the entrance a bit further down the road does not address 
the issue that the road itself is not fit for the substantial number of HGVs and 
other large commercial vehicles that constantly pass through Wrotham Heath 
and the Maidstone Road section of Platt.  Strongly urge you to consider 
relocating the access road nearer to the roundabout with the A20/M26, where 
all commercial vehicles can come and go without impacting on the residential 
properties along the A25, and making the footpaths safe again for pedestrians.

5.8.2 Nine objections, summarised as follows:

 Increased heavy traffic and impact to road safety.

 Lack of speed restriction proposed.

 Increased noise and air pollution.

 The lorries and traffic that presently use the industrial estate are large heavy 
goods vehicles, there is no provision at the Clubs Quarry entrance for turning, 
slip road or any other measures that will prevent significant congestion whilst 
large vehicles try to enter/exit that location. 

 There is not enough room physically for a filter lane, roundabout or other 
measure that would make this workable.

 Unless it is the intention of the Planning Authority to restrict use of the 
industrial estate - traffic will increase.

 Increased amount of noise and air pollution.

 No speed restrictions in place and is a danger.

 Other options (through to the A20 then possibly into the roundabout for the 
M26) will further aid future development of the site, reduce overall congestion 
(rather than moving it 400M down the A25) and result in fewer objections and 
safer conditions for all potentially affected by this proposal. This would prepare 
the site for future residential development, reduce congestion and the risks 
associated with large lorries turning on an A road that is already highly utilised, 

Page 21



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

would not affect adversely the residents near the quarry, could result in the 
compete CLOSURE of the entrance next to Platt School, and staggered 
closure of the Nepicar Quarry entrance when production stops.

 Platt Industrial Estate has been in that position for many years. People bought 
their houses knowing that Platt industrial Estate was there. How is it right that 
someone else has to have that situation put on them and their property.

 The bend at Askew Bridge is a dangerous bend and I think this will cause a lot 
of problems, it is a blind bend. 

 We would expect compensation for the noise and pollution.

 This has been badly thought out and it needs to be looked at again.

6. Determining Issues:

6.1 The NPPF in paragraphs 1–14 include as general principles a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development which comprises three dimensions: economic, 
social and environmental.. Paragraph 17 includes core planning principles for 
decision taking  by Local Planning Authorities.

Strategic implications:

6.2 Members are advised that in the current LDF there is no policy or evidence 
recognising the need for an alternative access to Platt Industrial Estate. The LDF 
does include a safeguarded route for a by-pass to the west of Borough Green, 
which was justified on the basis that this could address some of the concerns on 
the traffic levels on the A25 through Borough Green and Platt but it is unlikely now 
that this will be implemented. The current proposal does not appear to address 
those issues as an alternative to the by-pass: this application is for a more specific 
focus on the improvements to the existing access to the Industrial Estate and 
properties in its vicinity rather than more strategic benefits to the A25 corridor. 

6.3 The emerging Local Plan carries no weight as a material consideration at this 
stage in its preparation. However, there is a proposal submitted on behalf of a 
consortium of land owners to deliver a relief road serving all of Borough Green and 
Platt, including the Industrial Estate, as part of a major mixed use development. 
This will be considered as part of the preparation of the Local Plan, which will 
replace the LDF during 2019. The land submitted by the consortium includes the 
land which is the subject of the current application. As the landowners are 
members of the consortium it is perhaps unlikely that they would be willing to offer 
up the land for the ‘concept’ before the Local Plan has run its course. In this 
planning application, a reference is made by the applicants to this concept being 
lodged with the Local Plan as evidence. The material provided is a representation 
and has been noted as part of the Local Plan process, but it is not Local Plan 
evidence per se. 

Page 22



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

6.4 Turning to the need to determine this planning application on its merits, there are 
2 main issues concerning the principle of the development. One is that the site is 
in the MGB and the other main issue is the conflict with the Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan (KWMLP)  in terms of mineral reserves.

MGB and Countryside:

6.5 The development is inappropriate engineering as it would have an impact on the 
openness of the MGB and also causes countryside encroachment (it is a purpose 
of the MGB to avoid countryside encroachment). The relevant policy context is 
NPPF para 89 and 90 and policy CP3 of the TMBCS which defers to national 
policy. A case of very special circumstances is needed to outweigh both the harm 
to the MGB by inappropriateness and any other harm.

6.6 Paragraph 88 of the NPPF states that “when considering any planning application, 
local planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any 
harm to the Green Belt and that very special circumstances will not exist unless 
potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other 
harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations”.

6.7 There are 3 separate parts of the link road proposal which have differing impacts 
which need to be assessed:

6.8 Within the Industrial Estate, part of the site is allocated in the DLA DPD as a Major 
Developed Site in the Green Belt, under Policy M1.  This allows for infill 
development or redevelopment with relevant caveats being:

 it does not lead to any greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and 
the purposes of including land within it;

 it leads to an overall improvement in the environment and does not harm the 
landscape setting and appropriately integrates with its surroundings;

 any changes in traffic can be satisfactorily accommodated without conflict with 
the rural amenity, without prejudice to highway safety and bring beneficial 
changes if possible;

6.9 This policy M1 also provides site specific requirements for Platt Industrial Estate, 
relevant ones being requiring any development to protect trees on the site, 
minimise conflicts with mineral operations in the area, investigate and remediate 
any land contamination and include any necessary improvement to the access (ie 
A25 Maidstone Road junction). 

6.10 The access link road within M1 will be sited directly adjacent to the existing 
substantial industrial buildings and depots. I am of the view that the proposed 
access link road would appropriately integrate with its surroundings because the 
western part of the application site is largely physically enclosed within the 
landscape by existing land topography and the cutting of the National railway line 
to the south which, has already compromised openness to a significant degree.  In 

Page 23



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

my view there is no impact here on openness nor countryside encroachment 
except a relatively insignificant impact from the ramp that will be needed as it 
crossed into the woodland.

6.11 The proposal where it passes through the wooded plateau does of course have an 
inevitable impact on openness and visual amenity of the woods and represents 
countryside encroachment but it is visually enclosed from wider longer range 
views.

6.12 As the line of the proposed access link road moves into the sandpit, it would 
become much more visible, especially the embankment. The applicants have 
likened it to a typical haul road which it clearly will not be as the traffic flows and 
types are vastly different. However, in terms of visual impact and impact on 
openness and countryside encroachment, it is clearly the case that the quarry is a 
commercial and visually despoiled area notwithstanding the partial restoration to 
date and would be expected to continue to have that appearance overall for at 
least another 12 years.

6.13 Therefore, although the proposed development would impact on the openness and 
visual amenities of the Green Belt and encroach into the countryside, given the 
unique site specific circumstances discussed above, I consider that this impact on 
those matters would not be significant in this case and this harm and the 
definitional harm could potentially be outweighed by a case of very special 
circumstances and material considerations. These centre on the amenity benefits 
from reduced HGV noise and disturbance on the educational, community and 
residential uses in the locality which have a particularly close juxtaposition with the 
A25.

6.14 Other aspects of policy M1 will be discussed in the remainder of the report.

6.15 TMBCS Policy CP6 relates to edges of settlements and states that development 
will not be permitted within the countryside or on the edge of a settlement where it 
might harm the setting or character of a settlement when viewed from the 
countryside and should be consistent with Policy CP14. Policy CP14 requires, 
inter alia, development in the countryside to be restricted to that required for the 
limited expansion of an existing authorised employment use or any other 
development for which a rural location is essential.  The road serves employment 
uses so there is no conflict with that part of the policy in my opinion. Its rural 
location is inevitable if it is to serve as a bypass to the A25. Whether it is essential 
or not is an opinion put forward by the applicant that Members may not share but 
in any event, if CP14 and CP6 are judged to be breached, then the conflict with 
that part of the Development Plan could be outweighed by other material 
considerations which will be described below.

Page 24



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Highways:

6.16 NPPF paragraph 32 states that development should only be prevented or refused 
on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe. MDE DPD Policy SQ8 is more detailed and resists the increased use of an 
existing access onto the primary or secondary road network where a significantly 
increased risk of crashes or traffic delays would result. Where significant traffic 
effects on the highway network and/or the environment are identified, the 
development shall only be allowed with appropriate mitigation measures and these 
must be provided before the development is used or occupied.  

6.17 KCC (H&T) has no objection to the alternative access proposed if passing places 
are added. That would entail needing more land than shown in the red lined layout 
plan which is drawn tight to a 5m wide carriageway. Therefore the applicant has 
been asked to submit an amendment in this regard and an update will be provided 
in a supplementary report. 

6.18 KCC notes that there are likely to be local access issues associated with full 
closure of the current Platt Industrial Estate road. It is likely to impede local 
established user rights to reach the A25 on the existing access road. KCC 
conclude that a more flexible approach may be more suitable, namely not allowing 
HGV movements from a point just north of Hollymount House and repeating this 
message at the railway bridge on the private Platt Industrial Estate road. This 
approach offers more flexibility for local (eg residential) access and reduces the 
potential for bridge strikes from the west (eastbound on the A25). This can be the 
subject of an informative.

6.19 Clearly, it would be necessary for emergency access to be the subject of a 
condition together with a retained use of the existing road also for cyclists, motor 
cyclists as well as pedestrians. This would need to be secured by a condition and 
would necessitate the applicant securing the agreement of the landowner of the 
private road which is currently Prime Securities.

6.20 Members may recall that a design for improvements to the junction at the A25 
have been secured under Unilateral Undertakings related to extant planning 
permissions. The works have not yet been implemented but would comprise 
junction improvements, with a square parking bay nearest to the junction. They 
need to be implemented before development at phases 3 and 4 of the Industrial 
Estate can commence. The applicant is of the view that these junction 
improvements are unlikely to be implementable due to land ownership issues and 
sightline problems.

6.21  KCC (H&T) regard the revised improvements to the existing junction as 
acceptable in respect to visibility for emerging vehicles and pedestrian. It has been 
satisfied that the improved junction with the A25 is well within capacity for the 
increase in the number of vehicles using the junction and access road to the 

Page 25



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

estate when considering the cumulative effect of the proposed development on the 
junction and road network in the immediate area. 

6.22 Notwithstanding the above, the alternative presented in this application is similarly 
acceptable in highway terms on its own merits provided that the detailed design 
and configuration is such that there is demonstrated to be no detrimental impact 
on traffic safety or flows within the Industrial Estate nor in the Quarry and that the 
junction has satisfactory capacity and sightlines. The width of the road needs to 
increase at certain points (especially around corners) or adequate passing places 
added. Much more detail of the method of creating the ramps is also needed.

6.23 In terms of the Industrial Estate, the relationship of the link road with current 
commercial activities and the operation of other industrial units would need to be 
more detailed and in terms of the sand quarry, plant for screening/processing and 
loading and weighbridge would need to be relocated so that the extraction of the 
mineral reserves is unhindered by the proposal. This would be neither simple nor 
inexpensive and would need the cooperation and agreement of the relevant 
landowners and leaseholders who are aware of the proposal because formal 
notice was served on them. Members will be aware that if they are minded to grant 
outline planning permission that would mean that the applicant would have to 
secure the agreement of these third parties to be able to implement.

6.24 In the event that Members were minded to grant outline consent, it would need to 
be subject of a Grampian style condition. Conditions requiring works on land that 
is not controlled by the applicant, or that require the consent or authorisation of 
another person or body need to be worded in a negative form (a Grampian 
condition) that prohibits development authorised by the planning permission until a 
specified action has been take. The Government in its guidance does state that 
such conditions should not be used where there are no prospects at all of the 
action in question being performed within the time-limit imposed by the permission. 
The time taken for the sand quarry to be efficiently worked out fully would be the 
main issue justifying a long period for commencement than is normally the case.

6.25 Overall, I am satisfied that the development would not result in any significant 
harm to highway safety and that any residual cumulative impacts on the transport 
network would not be “severe”.  The proposal in principle therefore accords with 
Policy SQ8 of the MDE DPD and paragraph 32 of the NPPF.

6.26 The PROW at the Nepicar junction will be affected by the extra traffic but the 
PROW at the existing access will have less traffic so the overall effect is neutral. 
Members will note comments from the PROW which can be in an informative.

Air Quality:

6.27 MDE DPD Policy SQ4 on air quality states that development will only be permitted 
if there is no significant deterioration of the air quality either individually or 
cumulatively with other proposals or existing uses in the vicinity. The environment 

Page 26



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

protection team have not found evidence of poor air quality to warrant the 
designation of an Air Quality Management Area in Platt. It is therefore considered 
that moving the junction eastwards for HGVs and the consequent changes in 
traffic type and numbers at both the existing and new junction would have a 
neutral impact overall albeit with a redistribution of pollution from HGVs using Platt 
Industrial Estate and that would improve amenity for the majority of local residents, 
the users of the primary school and Memorial Hall in its vicinity.

Noise:

6.28 Noise levels from a planning point of view are now dealt with by the National Noise 
Policy Statement for England 2010 which supersedes policy SQ6 of the MDE 
DPD. It is accepted that this application may reduce the noise levels to the 
properties close to the current junction with the A25. However, it may also 
increase the noise levels at the proposed new junction but there is more likely to 
be scope for effective mitigation. Therefore a condition is needed to secure a 
report into the predicted noise impact from the proposed new road, including the 
intensification of use at the junctions at both ends. Where appropriate, the report 
should detail any mitigation/attenuation measures found to be necessary.  Overall 
the combination of redistributing the source of noise from HGVs and the scope for 
mitigation of the new route means that the noise and disturbance which affects the 
locality will decrease overall, improving amenity for the majority of local residents, 
and the users of the primary school and Memorial Hall in its vicinity.

Minerals:

6.29 In terms of the KMWLP, policy CSM5 for Land-won Mineral Safeguarding serves 
in safeguarding economic mineral resources from being unnecessarily sterilised by 
other development. Policy DM7(3) states that planning permission will only be 
granted for non-mineral development incompatible with minerals safeguarding 
where it is demonstrated that the mineral can be extracted satisfactorily 
beforehand, having regard to Policy DM9. Policy DM9 (Prior Extraction of Minerals 
in Advance of Surface Development) details that planning permission for mineral 
extraction in advance of development will be granted where the resources would 
otherwise be permanently sterilised, will need conditions imposed to ensure that 
the site can be adequately restored to a satisfactory after-use should the main 
development be delayed or not implemented. 

6.30 If this outline planning permission were granted, its implementation could affect 
land on which there are mineral reserves and hence it could potentially be contrary 
to mineral planning policy which resists the sterilisation of important reserves. The 
applicant responded to this concern by saying that the road could be temporary. It 
is certainly the case that the timescales would need to factor in that the quarry has 
at least 13 years left on its planning permission to be completed. In terms of the 
sand quarry, any need for the weighbridge and for plant to be re-sited for 
continued screening/processing and loading are likely to need to be relocated so 

Page 27



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

that it is unhindered by the implementation and use of the proposed new access 
link road.

6.31 Any changes to the minerals operations to accommodate this proposal would need 
to be separately approved by KCC as Minerals Planning Authority in the form of a 
variation to the Nepicar Sand Quarry planning permission.

Economic Issues:

6.32 The part of the site within Platt Industrial Estate is also designated as ‘Other 
Employment Land’ under Policy E2 of the DLA DPD.  Areas under this policy are 
considered suitable for continued employment use in principle. The proposed link 
road serves employment uses so there is no conflict with that policy.

6.33 Paragraphs 18 and 19 of the NPPF support sustainable economic growth, on 
which significant weight should be placed.  Paragraph 28 supports a prosperous 
rural economy and confirms the commitment to supporting economic growth in 
rural areas to create jobs and prosperity.  It advises that support should be given 
for the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise in 
rural areas through well designed new buildings.

6.34 The applicant suggests that the proposed new link road would allow further 
expansion of the Industrial Estate as they say that the junction improvements at 
the existing access are not achievable and that prevents the implementation of 
recent planning permissions. As mentioned above, the link road in this application 
in my view has even more complicated implementation hurdles in terms of costs, 
land ownership and relocation of other conflicting activities and land uses. So I 
consider the 2 alternatives to be of not dissimilar value in economic terms.

Character and visual amenity:

6.35 Policy CP1 states that all proposals for new development must result in a high 
quality sustainable environment and that the need for development will be 
balanced against the need to protect and enhance the natural and built 
environment. Policy CP24 requires all development to be well designed, to respect 
the site and its surroundings and make a positive contribution towards the 
enhancement of the appearance and safety of the area.  Development which by 
virtue of its design would be detrimental to the built environment, amenity or 
functioning and character of a settlement or the countryside should not be 
permitted.  Policy SQ1 of the MDE DPD states that proposals for development will 
be required to protect, conserve and, where possible, enhance the character and 
local distinctiveness of the area the distinctive setting of the landscape, important 
views; and the biodiversity value of the area, including patterns of vegetation and 
property boundaries. 

6.36 I am satisfied that the proposed development would not harm the character of the 
area or visual amenity of the locality to a degree that warrants refusal based upon 

Page 28



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

the specific characteristics of the 3 parts of the link road when weighed against its 
positive aspects.  

Groundwater:

6.37 MDE DPD Policy CC3 aims to protect groundwater quality and promote 
sustainable drainage systems. The EA has no objections subject to conditions that 
restrict the infiltration of surface water into the ground to those areas where it has 
been demonstrated that there would not be an unacceptable risk to controlled 
waters.  These conditions are necessary to protect the existing groundwater 
resources and would therefore accord with paragraphs 120-121 of the NPPF.     

Residential amenity:

6.38 The nearest residential properties to the site at its western end are Hollymount 
House, Bassetts Cottage and The Old Stables (permission recently granted for 
conversion to a dwelling) which are situated on the eastern side of the access road 
to Platt Industrial Estate. The nearest dwelling is Hollymount House about 5m to 
the south of the site and set at a much higher level.

6.39 The development will switch traffic movements near to these dwellings from using 
the access road to the west to the new access road to the north. The impact will 
be neutral to Hollymount House and slightly improve the situation for Bassetts 
Cottage and The Old Stables. It will significantly reduce the traffic impact for 
Whatcote Cottages and other dwellings in the vicinity of the existing access and in 
the Askew Bridge area and the Platt primary school in its present and proposed 
locations. 

6.40 However, it will increase traffic activity through the quarry and at the junction with 
Nepicar Sand quarry near where dwellings of Askew Bridge Cottages and North 
Downs are sited and the (unlawful) Gypsy Traveller site at Askew Bridge. The 
level of traffic and activity around this part of the site from the quarrying activities, 
the railway line and the A25 means that there will be no overall worsening of 
amenity from this scheme that could not be satisfactorily mitigated (as discussed 
under noise considerations above).

6.41 Overall, I do not consider that the proposed development would result in an overall 
demonstrable harm to the amenities or living conditions of residential occupiers in 
the local area and therefore that it complies with Policy CP24 of the TMBCS.

Trees and Biodiversity:

6.42 Paragraphs 109, 111, 118-123 of the NPPF relate to conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment.

6.43 MDE DPD Policies NE2 and Policy NE4 relate to protecting biodiversity and 
woodland such that if development cannot reasonably be located on an alternative 

Page 29



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

site, there needs to be an overriding need against any harm to the ecological and 
landscape value of the woodland: any harm to be mitigated by positive 
environmental measures within the site or by replacement planting elsewhere or 
enhanced management.  

6.44 The tree loss is relatively limited for such a length of new road but needs further 
expert analysis and the impact of the embankments on the roots of important trees 
needs further analysis but that could be the subject of a condition in the event that 
planning permission is granted.

6.45 I consider that, subject to conditions requiring a more detailed expert survey and 
the development being undertaken in accordance with the recommendations 
outlined therein, protected species and tree cover would be adequately 
safeguarded and the NPPF guidance and local policies would not be breached to 
a degree to warrant refusal on these matters.

Other planning matters:

6.46 In the light of the historic and current uses, relevant conditions would be required 
to ensure that the land is satisfactory for its end use in terms of land 
contamination.

6.47 The landowner of part of the Platt Industrial Estate expresses concern at 
inconsistent application of the MGB policy although they are referring to an appeal 
decision from 2003 against a large expanse of hardstanding constructed on a 
wooded area for the purposes of open storage and lorry parking which is not 
comparable to the application here. It is of course the case that schemes are 
considered on their merits in the light of planning policy context at the time. I am 
satisfied that the wider benefits of a new link road are greater than extra 
hardstanding for commercial purposes in what is already a large industrial estate 
in the MGB.  

6.48 As mentioned above, non-cooperative landowners are not a reason to not grant a 
planning permission on land use grounds. Securing the legal ability to implement a 
planning permission is a separate matter.

Conclusion:

6.49 The proposed development would be inappropriate development, but due to the 
unique circumstances of the site setting, the limited impact on openness and 
countryside encroachment compared to the amenity benefits that the development 
will bring, ‘very special circumstances’ are considered to exist that would outweigh 
the harm to the Green Belt as a result of the development’s inappropriateness. 
The amenity benefits are the reduction in noise and disturbance from HGV traffic 
in a locality where there is a high concentration of dwellings and a primary school 
and a Memorial Hall close to a heavily trafficked main road. I do not consider there 

Page 30



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

to be any other material harm from the development identified in the report that 
would outweigh the positive impacts identified. 

6.50 The scheme does not comply with all provisions of Policy M1 of the DLA DPD, 
relating to impact on openness or to Policy CP6 and CP14 of the TMBCS relating 
to development in the countryside near settlements, and is therefore contrary to 
the Development Plan.  However, I consider that the material considerations that 
have established the very special circumstances above under Green Belt policy 
are sufficient to overcome the scheme’s non-compliance with the Development 
Plan.

6.51 The actively quarried mineral reserves on most of the application site means that 
the normal time scales for an outline planning permission would not be practical 
and would be contrary to Mineral planning policy which protects the sterilisation of 
important reserves. I therefore recommend that the timescales factor in that the 
quarry has at least 13 years left on its planning permission to be completed. Any 
changes to the minerals operations to accommodate this proposal would need to 
be separately approved by KCC as Minerals Planning Authority.

6.52 On balance, the proposed development, with the imposition of suitable conditions, 
satisfactorily accords with the relevant provisions of the Development Plan and 
NPPF, and therefore approval is recommended.

6.53 The application was advertised as a technical departure from the development 
plan but I am of the view that, following the analysis above and that the scheme is 
not “major” development by site area, it does not warrant a referral to the NPCU 
because it does not have a significant impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
by reason of its scale or nature or location.

7. Recommendation:

7.1 Grant planning permission as detailed by Certificate B received 08.12.2016, 
Photographs received 08.12.2016, Planning Statement received 09.01.2017, 
Noise Assessment received 09.01.2017, Tree Report received 09.01.2017, 
Proposed Layout 17-04-01 received 31.03.2017, Tree Plan 17-04-02 received 
05.04.2017, Design and Access Statement received 02.05.2017, Transport 
Assessment received 02.05.2017, Certificate B x 4 titles received 25.05.2017, 
Email TRAFFIC SURVEY TIMES received 15.06.2017, /subject to the following:

Conditions/Reasons

1  Approval of details of the layout and appearance of the development, access to 
and within the site, the landscaping of the site, and the scale of the development 
(hereinafter called the "reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Page 31



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Reason:  No such approval has been given.

2 Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of 12 years from the date of this 
permission.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

3 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 
15 years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years 
from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, 
whichever is the later.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

4 No  development shall commence until a strategy demonstrating non-sterilisation 
of strategic mineral reserves (and that the site can be adequately restored to a 
satisfactory after-use should the development be delayed or not implemented) has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To safeguard economic mineral resources

5 No development shall commence until there has been a relocation of sand quarry 
operations including processing/screening/loading and weighbridge area in 
accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard economic mineral resources.

6 The details submitted in pursuance to condition 1 shall include vehicle tracking to 
demonstrate that HGVs can safely pass at all points of the road or that there are 
sufficient adequately dimensioned passing places.  

Reason: To accord with the terms of the application and to ensure the free flow of 
traffic.

7 The details submitted in pursuance to condition 1 shall include full constructional 
details of the ramp material and design.

Reason: No such details have been submitted.

8 No development shall commence until a report into the predicted noise impact 
from the proposed new road has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The report shall include the impact of the intensification of use 

Page 32



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

at the junctions at both ends. Where appropriate, the report should detail any 
mitigation/attenuation measures found to be necessary. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented within 1 month of the first public use of the new access road 
and shall be retained at all times thereafter.  

Reason:  To safeguard the aural amenity.

9 Within 1 month of the first public use of the road hereby permitted, the existing 
access road to Platt Industrial Estate shall be closed to HGV use but use by 
cyclists, pedestrians and emergency vehicles shall be retained in accordance with 
details that have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To accord with the terms of the application and to minimise loss of 
existing user rights of the access.

10 No development shall be commenced until:

(a) a site investigation has been undertaken to determine the nature and extent of 
any contamination, and

(b) the results of the investigation, together with an assessment by a competent 
person and details of a scheme to contain, treat or remove any contamination, as 
appropriate, have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The assessment and scheme shall have regard to the need to ensure 
that contaminants do not escape from the site to cause air and water pollution or 
pollution of adjoining land.

The scheme submitted pursuant to (b) shall include details of arrangements for 
responding to any discovery of unforeseen contamination during the undertaking 
of the development hereby permitted.  Such arrangements shall include a 
requirement to notify the Local Planning Authority of the presence of any such 
unforeseen contamination.

Prior to the first occupation of the development or any part of the development 
hereby permitted. 

(c) the approved remediation scheme shall be fully implemented insofar as it 
relates to that part of the development which is to be occupied, and

(d) a Certificate shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority by a responsible 
person stating that remediation has been completed and the site is suitable for the 
permitted end use.

Thereafter, no works shall take place within the site such as to prejudice the 
effectiveness of the approved scheme of remediation.

Page 33



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Reason:  In the interests of amenity and public safety. 

11 Prior to the first public use of the development hereby permitted 

(a) the approved remediation scheme shall be fully implemented insofar as it 
relates to that part of the development which is to be used, and

(b) a Certificate shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority by a responsible 
person stating that remediation has been completed and the site is suitable for the 
permitted end use.

Thereafter, no works shall take place within the site such as to prejudice the 
effectiveness of the approved scheme of remediation.

Reason:  In the interests of amenity and public safety.

12 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy 
detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall 
be implemented as approved.

Reason: To ensure that the development is not put at unacceptable risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with paragraph 
109 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

13 No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than 
with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. Appropriate pollution control 
methods should be used for drainage from access road to reduce the risk of 
hydrocarbons from entering groundwater.  

Reason: To ensure that the development is not put at unacceptable risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants in line with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

14 Before any works commence on site, an ecological survey of the site, or any part 
thereof identified by the Local Planning Authority shall be carried out by a suitably 
qualified person approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to determine 
how the site is used by Protected Species.  Details of the survey and an 
assessment of the impact of the proposed development and any appropriate 
alleviation measures and timetable shall be submitted to and approved by the 

Page 34



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Local Planning Authority.  Such measures shall then be implemented in 
accordance with the approved timetable.

Reason:  To ensure that any protected species on the site are satisfactorily 
protected.

15 The details submitted in pursuance of condition 1 shall be accompanied by a 
scheme of landscaping and boundary treatment in plan form and written 
specification which shall include materials of hard surfaced areas and a tree 
survey specifying the position, height, spread and species of all existing trees on 
the site (and those that may be affected on adjoining land), provision for the 
retention and protection of existing trees and shrubs and a date for completion of 
any new planting and boundary treatment.  The scheme as approved by the 
Authority shall be implemented by the approved date or such other date as may be 
agreed in writing by the Authority.  The boundary treatment shall be retained as 
approved and any trees or plants which within 10 years of planting are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species, unless the Authority gives written 
consent to any variation.  

Reason:  Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
to protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality.

Informatives

1 The reserved matters will be expected to detail the relationship of the proposed 
access road with current commercial activities and the other industrial units within 
Platt Industrial Estate.

2 You are advised that a power supply line runs through the site.

3 Any changes to the minerals operations to accommodate this proposal would need 
to be separately approved by KCC as Minerals Planning Authority.

4 KCC advise not allowing HGV movements from a point just north of Hollymount 
House and repeating this message at the railway bridge on the private Platt 
Industrial Estate road. This approach offers more flexibility for local (eg residential) 
access and reduces the potential for bridge strikes from the west (eastbound on 
the A25).

5 Signs should be erected to make walkers aware of vehicles, and signs to make 
vehicles aware of pedestrians. Also support a zebra crossing or another type of 
pedestrian crossing at MR290.

Contact: Marion Geary

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

TM/16/03630/OA

Nepicar Sand Quarry Maidstone Road Platt Sevenoaks Kent TN15 7SJ

Outline Application including details of access: New access road from the East side of 
Platt Industrial Estate, through Nepicar sandpit to join the A25 Maidstone Road

For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015.

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Platt
Borough Green And 
Long Mill

4 April 2017 TM/17/00798/FL

Proposal: Creation of new vehicular access, with entrance gates, to 
orchard and woodland

Location: Land At Long Wood Off Crouch Lane Borough Green 
Sevenoaks Kent  

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Baillie
Go to: Recommendation

1. Description:

1.1 Planning permission is sought for engineering works to construct a new vehicle 
access to some 15ha of woodland that the applicant owns to the north-west of 
Crouch Lane/south of Borough Green. The access is required for the purposes of 
maintaining and caring for the woodland. The applicants have stated that they 
need to maintain the woodland in order to meet public liability insurance 
requirements as the site is often accessed by the general public on an 
unauthorised basis. A new access to this site is now required as the applicants 
can no longer gain access in the way that they had previously, due to a dispute 
over land ownership where the original access gate is.

1.2 Where the application site abuts Crouch Lane there is a notable ground level 
change, with the woodland being between 0.5-1m above the adjoining road level. 
The application includes a plan to show the position of the proposed access along 
the site’s boundary with Crouch Lane, and includes cross sections to show the 
degree of engineering works (i.e. cutting in) that would need to be made to the 
bank to achieve vehicle access into the site. Within the application it is stated that 
no retaining walls would be necessary and the proposed access would create a 
passing point in Crouch Lane which would be a benefit to all road users. The 
application has been accompanied by a tree survey as 6 trees are required to be 
removed to make way for the access: the majority of trees to be removed are Field 
Maples – 1 Category B tree and 5 Category C trees are proposed to be removed.

1.3 The application details that access would be made by pulling back the 
embankment from the road creating a recess, with tarmacadam surfacing added 
and a new gate installed.  The gates require planning permission as they form part 
of the proposed engineering works and they would be set back sufficiently (6m) to 
allow for cars/machinery to be off the road safely. 

1.4 In support of the application, the applicants have submitted an email that seeks to 
address some of the points that have been raised during the consultation process. 
This email is summarised as follows:

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

 At the current time there is no direct and immediate vehicle access into the 
woods from a public highway in Basted Mill nor in Crouch. The only place the 
woods immediately borders the public highway and direct vehicle access is 
possible is the stretch of land we have proposed putting the entrance on. The 
initial purpose is as stated, to access the orchard area to allow us to continue 
what we have started to do, which is return the area to how it was before many 
of the fruit trees were removed and saplings planted in their place. We believe 
this happened some 20 years or so ago. It then provides us with a better more 
suitable access point to allow any future activities that are required to better 
manage the ancient natural woodland in Longwood. This future activity would 
only be attempted with expert involvement and in consultation with TMBC 
given the blanket TPO that covers Longwood.

 Accessing from Basted Mill:

To get to the gate to the woods by using the entrance to our current residential 
property presents a number of challenges - Existing lightweight bridges in our 
property would preclude any larger forestry machinery that is required from 
safely entering here, driveway width and restricted layout would also prevent 
them even getting to the bridges in the first place. The direct route to the gate 
in our fence is over the current foul water system leading to our septic tank and 
it would involve driving over the existing septic tank. The land just before the 
gate is boggy due to natural springs. Between the gate to our garden and the 
gate to the woods is a public footpath which any equipment would have to 
cross. The path separates our two parcels of land ownership and at no point 
do they join. Despite what has been contended there is no track from the gate 
to the main body of Longwood. When we bought the property no such track 
existed and there was no evidence of such a track previously existed. Even 
ignoring all of the other issues above a track could not easily be created here 
as the area here between the gate and the main body of Longwood is 
extremely boggy and not suited to have any vehicles on it. In addition the 
suggestion to create a new track seems to ignore the fact that this section is 
covered by the whole area TPO. It would certainly entail cutting down many 
more protected trees than our current proposal envisages. 

 Highway Safety Issues:

KCC have dealt with this point in their consultation response and have no 
objection to the proposed access. On the point that the road is too narrow 
surely the entrance way creates a passing point which is beneficial 

 Street Scene:

These comments overlook the fact that the somebody falsely reported we were 
breaching the TPO on Longwood and we were not attempting to flatten the 
immediate site as alleged. The street scene will be maintained and is entirely 

Page 40



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

consistent with other entrances along the entire length of Crouch Lane. This 
application only seeks to remove the younger trees that we have requested to 
gain access and most will be replaced as per the tree report.

 Orchard:

The area is/was an orchard and we seek to return it back to its original state. 
On previous enquiry when we originally started the work the Forestry 
Commission confirmed this land was designated as orchard land on their 
records and system. Not sure how the complainant can make the statement on 
the apple trees as you would have to have entered the site to establish this. 
Not sure if this point Orchard vs Woodland has even any relevance.

 Generally:

There is no 'legal dispute' regarding access. We do not have a right of access 
over the private track that goes down to the farm. The Planners have 
previously confirmed this point. There is no existing means of access.

On discussing another matter a local lawyer drew our attention to the point 
about our duty to maintain the woodlands and orchard. We are seeking to 
maintain woodland we own which we think is the right thing to do. We would 
only carry out work as suggested by expert advice and would not apply for 
felling licences to simply cut down trees. The reference to felling licence was 
meant to be in regard to any that would be required to the maintenance of the 
TPO’d trees.

1.5 Crouch Lane at this point is little more than a single width (approximately 4m in 
width) rural country lane with no white lining/road markings. There are a number of 
passing places which have been gradually eroded out of the banks of the lane as 
a result of the need for two cars to pass side-by-side.

2. Reason for reporting to Committee:

2.1 Councillor Mike Taylor call in due to concerns with dangerous traffic hazard, visual 
amenity of the countryside and the rural country lane, and that this is a civil 
dispute.

3. The Site:

3.1 The site includes the applicant’s woodland which comprises approximately 15ha of 
mixed woodland (Oak, Ash, Beech, Alder and mixed coppice). Much of the 
woodland is covered by a Tree Preservation Order (No. 81/10057/TPO). A smaller  
Tree Preservation Order also covers a collection of trees (mainly Oak, Field 
Maple, Hazel and Wild Cherry) along the immediate site boundary with Crouch 
Lane (No. 13/00012/TPO). The woodland is identified as the Bourne Valley Woods 
Local Wildlife Site. 

Page 41



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

3.2 The site is located entirely outside of the settlement confines of Borough Green, is 
within the open countryside and within the MGB. 

4. Planning History (relevant):

TM/94/00324/WG No objection 2 February 1995

Scheme of management of woodland

TM/00/00120/WG No Objection                   25 February 2000

Woodland Grant Scheme: woodland regeneration, landscape enhancement and  
nature conservation by means of coppicing and selective thinning of woodland

TM/15/01553/AGN Prior Approval Required 29 June 2015

Prior Agricultural Notification: Proposed new vehicle access to woodland
 

5. Consultees:

5.1 Platt Parish Council objects on the following grounds:

 Question why as the applicant resides in Rose Cottage and not Long Wood, 
can't access be made from their own property; 

 Access is to be from Crouch Lane. This is a narrow lane on a bend with no 
footpath or lighting. It is used by walkers, children and a large volume of traffic. 
Vehicles frequently have to reverse to allow overtaking.

 To allow another access as proposed would present a further dangerous 
hazard. The applicants' reference to an orchard at this point is not accepted.

 There has never been an orchard there, it has always been established 
woodland. Some trees are subject to TPOs and if deemed relevant some 2 
years ago, must still be relevant. 

 Concerns about the location and construction of the new access and the 
impact it may have upon the visual amenity of the countryside and the rural 
country lane -   in the MGB and needs to be protected.

 Consider that the applicants’ legal dispute over an existing access is not 
allowed as a valid reason for planning approval within the MGB

 Reference to your comment in Council report regarding Prior Agricultural 
Notification 5.42 "It is questionable whether the proposed new means of 
access would be reasonably necessary for the purpose of forestry.........and the 
existing means of access would be far better"

Page 42



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

 Question the applicant suddenly has a "duty to maintain the woodland in their 
ownership” - If there is a concern about maintenance why was this not 
continued when the applicant had access and why now? If the applicant is 
concerned about public liability insurance, which we do not regard as a 
planning matter, and trespass to his property is rife, surely they should 
maintain their boundary treatment.

 The applicant’s reason is also "to apply for a felling licence to tidy and clear 
fallen trees and those in poor condition". That is all encompassing; there 
appears no reference to replacing trees to maintain the appearance of 
established woodland. We would therefore question why this is being done. 
One could assume that the applicant now needs a privately owned access 
from a highways department road with a cleared large site for some unknown 
reason. Whilst we must accept your mantra of "we can't make our decision on 
future usage - it will be subject to another planning application"  once areas of 
our green belt are cleared and accessible, they cannot be bought back to what 
they were.

5.2 Borough Green Parish Council: support the views of Platt PC in that it raises 
concern about future development. Strongly felt that this application should be 
refused on Green Belt and Highway grounds.

5.3 Private Reps (Article 15 Site Notice/0X/4R/5S) 

5 letters of Support:

 Will improve aesthetic of area and reduce the dumping of rubbish in the 
locality;

 Much needed passing place and not unusual to see such accesses in the area;

 Only a few trees to be lost so would not cause an issue environmentally.

4 letters of Objection:

 Narrow, dangerous and busy stretch of road and close to a bend;

 Proposed sight lines are inadequate – particularly with the high banks;

 Loss of a large amount of beautiful woodland;

 Will be a driveway to a future property on site;

 Want this picturesque and peaceful lane undisturbed;

 Should use existing access from Basted Mill – once an access point and it 
could be reopened;

Page 43



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

 Access cuts across the TPO area and would therefore spoil the street scene – 
consider more than 6 trees would need to go – makes a mockery of having the 
TPO imposed to protect the street scene;

 There is no orchard on this site – it is established woodland.

5.4 KCC Highways: No objections subject to conditions regarding construction method 
and materials, position of gate and visibility splays.

6. Determining Issues:

6.1 The main issue to consider with this application is the principle of the proposed 
development bearing in mind that the site lies within the MGB where development 
is strictly controlled. Current Government guidance concerning development in the 
Green Belt is contained within section 9 of the NPPF.  Paragraph 90 of the NPPF 
states that engineering operations in the Green Belt are not inappropriate 
development provided they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not 
conflict with the purpose of including land in the Green Belt. Policy CP3 of the 
TMBCS 2007 requires developments within the Green Belt to comply with national 
Green Belt policy.

6.2 TMBCS Policy CP14 details that development in the countryside will be restricted 
unless it is for one of a number of reasons.  These reasons include, inter alia, 
development that is necessary for the purposes of agriculture or forestry, or 
development required for the limited expansion of an existing authorised 
employment use, or any other development for which a rural location is essential.  

6.3 Both the agents and the applicants have indicated that the reason they require this 
development is to maintain a woodland, thus the principle of the proposed 
development is considered acceptable and to accord with Policy CP14. 

6.4 TMBCS Policy CP 24 requires all developments to be well designed and to 
respect the site and wider locality in terms of scale, siting, layout, character and 
appearance.

6.5 There are concerns about the location and construction of the excavation and new 
private way and the impact it may have upon the visual amenity of the countryside 
and the rural country lane. The proposed access and parking area is suggested to 
have tarmacadam used which, although more urban in character, it is not out of 
keeping with other ground materials used in the locality. Although part of the 
woodland is protected by a Tree Preservation Order, the trees to be removed are 
not particularly good specimens. The proposed pair of wooden gates is also of an 
appropriate design and height for this location. Conditions are suggested to ensure 
that the development proposed is finished to a suitable standard. On this basis the 
proposed development is considered acceptable and accords with Policy CP24.

Page 44



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

6.6 The comments made by the PC and other interested parties concerning the 
applicant’s ability to access the woodland from his own property on the other side 
of Long Wood have been investigated. Due to the topography of the land and the 
fact that to reinstate an old access would mean taking down many more protected 
trees in a wood, this proposed access option seems the least objectionable. There 
appear to be no other viable access points from the public highways to service this 
protected wood.

6.7 The other comments raised by the PC that have not been dealt with in the main 
determining issues include the designation of the land as an orchard.  This area of 
land was once planted as an orchard and some trees remain towards the area of 
woodland. Additionally they consider that a legal dispute over a means of access 
is not a reason to approve planning permission but in this particular case there is 
no viable alternative means of access to the site than that proposed.

6.8 KCC (Highways and Transportation) has no objection on highways grounds, 
subject to a number of conditions relating to highway safety. It is considered that 
the application accords with Policy SQ8 of the MDE DPD and Paragraph 32 of the 
NPPF which states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the cumulative impacts of development are severe.  

6.9 In light of the above, I consider that the proposed development does accord with 
the relevant provisions of the Development Plan and NPPF and therefore I 
recommend approval accordingly.

7. Recommendation: Approve subject to the following:

Supporting Statement    dated 22.03.2017, Tree Report    dated 22.03.2017, Tree 
Protection Plan  U606 TPP R1  dated 22.03.2017, Tree Protection Plan  U606 TCP R1  
dated 22.03.2017, Existing Plans  100A  dated 04.04.2017, Proposed Plans  200 A  
dated 04.04.2017, Location Plan  16-182 SL-01  dated 04.04.2017, Email  dated 
11.05.2017, 

Conditions / Reasons

 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2 The entrance gates hereby permitted shall be hung to open away from the 
highway only.

Reason: To enable vehicles to stand off the highway whilst any gates are being 
operated.  

Page 45



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

 3 The proposed materials to be used as indicated on the submitted Plan Dwg. No. 
200 / Rev D, shall be used in the construction of the widened surface of the 
access hereby approved and shall be maintained at all times thereafter.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

4. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in such a manner as to 
avoid damage to the existing trees, including their root system, or other planting 
to be retained as part of the landscaping scheme by observing the following:

(a)  All trees to be preserved shall be marked on site and protected during any 
operation on site by a fence erected at 0.5 metres beyond the canopy spread (or 
as otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority).

(b)  No fires shall be lit within the spread of the branches of the trees.

(c)  No materials or equipment shall be stored within the spread of the branches 
of the trees.

(d)  Any damage to trees shall be made good with a coating of fungicidal sealant.

(e)  No roots over 50mm diameter shall be cut and unless expressly authorised 
by this permission no buildings, roads or other engineering operations shall be 
constructed or carried out within the spread of the branches of the trees.

(f)  Ground levels within the spread of the branches of the trees shall not be 
raised or lowered in relation to the existing ground level, except as may be 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and to protect the appearance and character of the site and locality.

 5. The access shall not be used until the area of land within the vision splays shown 
on the approved plans has been reduced in level as necessary and cleared of 
any obstruction exceeding a height of 0.9 metres above the level of the nearest 
part of the carriageway.  The vision splay so created shall be retained at all times 
thereafter.

Reason:  To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic.

 6. The access drive shall be constructed no steeper than 1 in 10 for the first 1.5 
metres from the edge of the highway and no steeper than 1 in 8 on any other 
part.

Reason:  To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic.

 
Informatives

1. The applicant should ensure that surface water from the development does not 

Page 46



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

discharge onto the highway

 2. With regard to works within the limits of the highway, the applicant is asked to 
consult The Community Delivery Manager, Kent County Council, Kent Highway 
Services, Double Day House, St Michaels Close, Aylesford  Tel: 03000 418181.

 3. The applicant is advised to avoid any discharge of mud onto the highway during 
the construction works

Contact: Rebecca Jarman

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

TM/17/00798/FL

Land At Long Wood Off Crouch Lane Borough Green Sevenoaks Kent 

Creation of new vehicular access, with entrance gates, to orchard and woodland

For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Plaxtol
Borough Green And 
Long Mill

9 May 2017 TM/17/01167/FL

Proposal: Demolition of existing outbuildings, erection of 3 bed detached 
dwelling with associated parking and landscaping

Location: 3 St Hildas Plaxtol Sevenoaks Kent TN15 0QN  
Applicant: Pinnacle Homes South East Ltd
Go to: Recommendation

1. Description:

1.1 Under application TM/16/03394/FL planning permission was refused for a new 4 
bedroom dwelling on this site with a new access from The Street on the following 
ground.

The proposed development, by virtue of the scale, siting, bulk and general form 
would result in a development of the site that is out of keeping within the street 
scene and the prevailing character of the area to the detriment of the visual 
amenities of the locality. Furthermore, this development of the site would 
necessitate the creation of an access onto The Street that would harm the sunken 
lane section of this section of lane that would be out of character within this rural 
settlement of Plaxtol. For these reasons, the proposal is contrary to paragraphs 
56, 57 and 58 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and policies CP13 and 
CP24 of the Tonbridge and Malling Borough Core Strategy 2007.

1.2 Planning permission is now sought for the construction of a new 3 bedroom, two 
storey dwelling in the residential curtilage of 3 St Hildas – splitting the plot in half.  
The new dwelling would have a residential curtilage of 370 sq m. Access to the 
site would be from St Hildas, as opposed to from The Street as previously 
proposed. The proposed house will be 122.9 sq m of internal floor area: the 
dimensions of the house are similar to that previously refused with the proposed 
height to the ridge of the roof to the house to be 8m, the width of house to be 
8.5m, and the maximum length to be 11.5m.  On the ground floor a separate 
kitchen/dining space/living space is proposed, with the bedrooms on the first floor 
together with a family bathroom and an ensuite to the main bedroom. The number 
of bedrooms on the house has been reduced from 4 as previously refused, to 3 
which is now proposed. A one metre side space is still proposed to the common 
boundary with 3 St Hildas and to the boundary with The Street. A 13m long by 
10m wide rear garden is proposed. 

1.3 Access to the dwelling is now from St Hildas with two parking spaces proposed to 
each of the proposed and existing dwellings. The application is accompanied by a 
design and access statement, a Planning Statement and a Construction 
Management Plan. In support of this application the following comments are 
made:

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

 Previous concerns regarding proposal have now been addressed: the access 
is now to be from the existing access drive with planting reinforced along the 
boundary with The Street; dwelling has reduced to a 3 bedroom dwelling and 
been made smaller; more vernacular roof profile now proposed with a cat slide 
eave profile to reduce bulk and mass; separation distance to The Street 
increased; and further vernacular detailing introduced.

 Proposed plot follows the linear relationship of existing properties at 1 and 3 
and, whilst there is stagger to the front and rear, this is similar to the 
relationship between, 5a and 5 St Hildas;

 The position of buildings in relation to The Street do not follow a fixed building 
line and the presence of outbuildings and the position of dwellings themselves 
provide interest and variety to the character of the village;

 Whilst the proposal does introduce a two storey form closer to The Street, 
there would be a 2.5m gap and the deeply sloping cat slide roof profile and 
enhancement to the boundary landscaping, which would ensure that the 
building would not appear visually dominant within this area;

 The design amendments respond to the guidance contained in the Plaxtol 
Village Design Statement;

 The application is supported by a streetscape impression within the Design 
and Access statement to demonstrate how the dwelling will assimate into the 
landscape.

2. Reason for reporting to Committee:

2.1 Councillor Mike Taylor on the grounds of overdevelopment, visual impact, adverse 
impact on services, and poor access.

3. The Site:

3.1 The site is located in the village confines of the rural settlement of Plaxtol and in 
the AONB. The surrounding area is predominately residential with a mix of semi-
detached estate housing and bungalows. A footpath runs along the front of the plot 
which provides access to The Street and a bus stop; this is to be retained within 
the proposal. The application site is approx. 702 sq m (0.07 hectares) in area and 
has approximately 36m frontage to The Street. A hedge and planting exists along 
The Street frontage and the site is raised up a slight bank. The site is located in 
part of the side/rear garden of an existing semi-detached dwelling; the site 
currently contains a garage and separate outbuilding.  

Page 52



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

4. Planning History (relevant):

TM/16/03394/FL Refuse 6 January 2017

Subdivision of the existing plot, demolition of existing garage and outbuildings, 
with construction of a new 4 bedroom dwelling with new vehicle access onto The 
Street

 
5. Consultees:

5.1 Plaxtol PC: object on the following summarised grounds:-

 Although the bulk of the property and massing at first floor level have been 
reduced, the proposal still constitutes overdevelopment by virtue of both its 
size in relation to the size of the plot and in comparison with the neighbouring 
houses. It is noted that the house will not exceed the building line of its 
neighbour, No 3, at the front of the property, but it will exceed the line to the 
rear.

 The proposal would exacerbate the building density of St Hilda’s, which is 
already an area of high density housing on The Street, which has 
predominantly linear development. 

 The style of the dwelling is not in keeping with the style of the houses in St 
Hilda’s. The tile hung and brick built properties used as examples of vernacular 
design are not in or nearby St Hilda’s but at other locations in The Street. 
Additionally, the houses in St Hilda’s are 2 and 3 bedroom semi-detached 
dwellings; there are no detached homes.

 The access road into St Hilda’s is very narrow and already suffers from traffic 
problems relating both to residents’ vehicles and delivery vehicles. This 
situation can only be exacerbated by additional vehicular traffic. The access 
from St Hilda’s to the development site is by a narrow track only 2 metres wide 
and therefore unsuitable for construction, delivery or emergency vehicles. Use 
of this track will also impact on the adjacent footway.

 The narrowness of the road and the access track mean that construction itself 
at this location will present a significant safety hazard from construction 
vehicles for residents. Deliveries craned from The Street would be at a narrow 
section and one of the worst spots for blockages. 

 St Hilda’s is served by an old and problematic drainage system under the 
access road; increased traffic would exacerbate the existing damage to the 
drainage system.

 The development would result in significant loss of privacy for the neighbouring 
houses, No 1 and No 3. The intention to remove trees will particularly impact 

Page 53



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

on No 1. Residents also disagree that the trees designated for removal are not 
important to the local landscape character. 

5.2 Private Reps (Article 15 Site Notice/0X/6R/0S): objections are raised on the 
following grounds:

 Disruption during the construction on the residents of St Hildas – very narrow 
and congested cul de sac making access for heavy vehicles problematic – 
turning circle not able to park in and will result in existing driveways being 
blocked:

 No mention of how existing road will be made good after construction works 
have completed;

 Design of house is different from others in St Hildas and will stand out, too big 
and detached – photos of similar designed houses in area submitted are not 
close to this site;

 Development will prevent existing pedestrian access along current path to the 
bus stop;

 No need for more housing in area – currently three houses up for sale in St 
Hildas;

 Access road to the site 6ft wide – of the view that materials will need to be left 
at the turning circle as lorries will not be able to access the site – total chaos 
will occur;

 Proposed house cannot be described as affordable as recommended in Plaxtol 
Parish Plan; 

 Proposed house will overlook existing dwellings;

 NPPF states that new development should provide social, economic and 
environmental benefits – do not consider that this is the case here;

 Development will block road for emergency vehicles;

 Applicant has commented that only one lorry will be allowed to site at any one 
time but no mention of workers’ cars etc;

 Will set a precedent for other developments to occur in the village;

 Already water pressure and electricity supply issues in the area – another 
property will exacerbate the problem.

Page 54



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

5.3 KCC (Highways & Transportation): The development of one unit could not be 
considered to constitute a severe impact and it is not considered that a highway 
reason for refusal could successfully be sustained. Conditions suggested.

6. Determining Issues:

6.1 In considering applications it is necessary to determine them in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless other factors indicate otherwise. In this respect the 
presumption in favour of development which sits at the heart of the NPPF, 
published in March 2012 as national Government policy, has to be taken into 
account.

6.2 Policy CP1 of the TMBCS 2007 sets out the Council’s overarching policy for 
creating sustainable communities. This policy requires, inter alia, that proposals 
must result in a high quality sustainable environment; the need for development 
will be balanced against the need to protect and enhance the natural and built 
environment, and preserve, or whether possible enhance the quality of the 
countryside, residential amenity and land, air and water quality; where practicable, 
new housing development should include a mix of house types and tenure and 
must meet identified needs in terms of affordability; and development will be 
concentrated at the highest density compatible with the local built and natural 
environment mainly on PDL.

6.3 Policy CP13 of the TMBCS allows for the redevelopment of a site within the 
confines of a rural settlement such as Plaxtol. Redevelopment will be permitted 
under this policy if there is some significant improvement to the appearance, 
character and functioning of the settlement; or justified by an exceptional local 
need for affordable housing.

6.4 Policy CP24 of the TMBCS relates to achieving a high quality environment. This 
policy requires that development must be well designed, be of suitable scale, 
density, layout, siting, character and appearance and be designed to respect the 
site and its surroundings.  Policy SQ1 of the MDE DPD reinforces this requirement 
that all new development should protect, conserve and, where possible, enhance 
(a) the character and local distinctiveness of the area including its historic and 
architectural interest and the prevailing level of tranquillity; (b) the distinctive 
setting of, and relationship between, the pattern of settlement, roads and the 
landscape, urban form and important views; and (c) the biodiversity value of the 
area, including patterns of vegetation, property boundaries and water bodies.

6.5 The application site is located entirely within the Kent Downs AONB. Policy CP7 of 
the TMBCS states that development will not be permitted which would be 
detrimental to the natural beauty and quiet enjoyment of the AONB. Paragraph 
115 of the NPPF requires that LPAs give great weight to conserving landscape 
and scenic beauty within the AONB which have the highest status of protection in 
relation to landscape and scenic beauty. Policies CP1 and CP24 of the TMBCS, 
Policy SQ1 of the MDE DPD and paragraphs 17 and 56 to 66 in the NPPF require 

Page 55



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

development to be of a high standard of design and to reflect the character of the 
area.

6.6 MDE DPD Policy SQ8 states that, inter alia, development proposals will only be 
permitted where they would not significantly harm highway safety and where traffic 
generated by the development can be served by the highway network. In this 
context the NPPF has a significant bearing; it is now clear that the nationally 
applied test in terms of highways impact is that an impact must be “severe” in 
order for the Highways and Planning Authorities to justifiably resist development 
on such grounds; KCC (Highways and Transportation) raises no objections on 
such matters. Development proposals should comply with parking standards which 
are set out in a Supplementary Planning Document. In this instance, the adopted 
parking standards set out in Kent Design Guide Review: Interim Guidance Note 3 
Residential Parking (IGN3) and are met.

6.7 Plaxtol Parish Council has produced a Design Statement which includes the 
principles for new dwellings within the Parish. This statement is a consideration 
that needs to be taken into account in the determination of planning applications. 
Within this document it is stated that the building line, scale and massing of a 
proposed dwelling should take into consideration the level of the ground, together 
with its position within the site. 

6.8 The proposed design takes into account the amenities of neighbouring dwellings 
to ensure no undue harm is caused and it satisfies relevant privacy and amenity 
standards. The comments made by the PC and local residents concerning the 
excessive bulk of the rear ward projection of the proposed dwelling on the existing 
dwelling at 3 St Hildas are noted but good separation exists and the development 
would not result in a notable loss of day light to number 3, as the 45 degree angle 
zone taken from 3 St Hildas has not been breached. Concerns have also been 
raised about overlooking into the rear garden and dwelling of 1 St Hildas, but the 
rear elevation of this dwelling is in excess of 30m from the proposed rear elevation 
of the development and set at an angle. Moreover, there are existing trees in the 
rear garden of the site, which are to be now to be retained, and these also help to 
screen the development. On this basis I do not consider that the loss of privacy or 
the impact of the development on neighbouring amenity are reasons to refuse the 
application.

6.9 The application site itself is within the defined village confines, but I do not 
consider that the development would result in the erosion of the character of the 
settlement within the countryside nor would be harmful to the setting of the 
settlement and the natural beauty of the AONB.  It is therefore considered that it 
would comply with TMBCS Policy CP7 and the advice contained in para. 115 of 
the NPPF. 

6.10 The size, bulk and positioning of the proposed dwelling has been cited as a 
concern by the PC and local residents. Improved separation is now provided to 

Page 56



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

either side of the proposed dwelling and there is adequate amenity space 
proposed with a sizeable rear garden. The amended design to the dwelling with a 
cat slide roof, increased separation to The Street frontage and enhanced 
landscaping would all assist in reducing the impact of the dwelling on the character 
of the street scene. I am now of the view that the proposed mass of the built form 
proposed reflects the general scale and character of the dwellings in this location 
and is thus suitable within the rural settlement of Plaxtol. 

6.11 The amended proposed means of access to the development site raises no 
technical objections to the scheme from the Highway Authority on either a capacity 
or safety perspective.  Their advice is given, of course, in the context of paragraph 
32 of the NPPF and I am therefore of the view that there are no overriding highway 
grounds to justify the refusal of planning permission in this instance. In my view 
the development is in character within this area and now meets the policy 
objectives of TMBCS Policies CP13 and CP24.

6.12 Whilst landscaping details are included as part of this application, there are some 
trees within the site that are indicated to be retained and some that would be 
removed.  Local concerns have been raised about the loss of trees on the site 
and, during the course of the application, the agents have asked a tree surgeon to 
inspect the trees on site.  Following this advice amended plans have been 
submitted that show the retention of trees to the rear of number 3. Additional 
landscape planting, together with appropriately considered boundary treatments 
(including either brick walls and/or timber fences) would undoubtedly be beneficial 
should the scheme be acceptable. 

6.13 Concerns have been raised by the PC and local residents about the use of St 
Hildas for construction operations and HGV movements to and from the site on 
surrounding residential properties, in particular with regards to road congestion. 
KCC Highways has been consulted and they advise that the development of one 
unit could not be considered to constitute a severe impact and that a highway 
reason for refusal could not be successfully sustained. Thus, whilst I recognise the 
concerns raised in this instance, they could not be a land use reason to refuse 
planning permission for a new building. I am however suggesting a condition that 
the submitted Construction Management Plan is complied with during the 
construction phase to try to keep disruption to the minimum.

6.14 With regard to other issues raised by the PC and local residents, a drainage 
survey has been undertaken recently on behalf of the applicants and it was found 
that problem is occurring outside the application site. It is understood that the 
drainage company have advised the residents concerned to contact the water 
company directly. The agents have commented that this survey can be made 
available at Committee if required.

6.15 In light of the above considerations, I consider that the previous grounds of refusal 
have been overcome. This amended scheme is now in keeping with the overall 

Page 57



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

character of the rural settlement of Plaxtol in terms of the size and position of the 
dwelling within the site and the amended access allows for the character of this 
section of sunken lane to be retained.

7. Recommendation: Approve

This was approved in accordance with the following submitted details: Existing Plans 
and Elevations  5784 PD03  dated 27.04.2017, Proposed Plans and Elevations  5784 
PD11  dated 27.04.2017, Design and Access Statement    dated 27.04.2017, Location 
Plan  5784-PD-10 REV C  dated 15.06.2017, Other   CONSTRUCTION 
MANAGEMENT dated 09.05.2017, Planning Statement    dated 09.05.2017, 

Conditions / Reasons

 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

 2. No development shall take place until details and samples of materials to be 
used externally have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority, and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character and 
appearance of the existing building or the visual amenity of the locality.

 3. The use shall not be commenced, nor the premises occupied, until the area 
shown on the submitted layout as vehicle parking space has been provided, 
surfaced and drained.  Thereafter it shall be kept available for such use and no 
permanent development, whether or not permitted by the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending, 
revoking or re-enacting that Order) shall be carried out on the land so shown or 
in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to this reserved parking space.

Reason:  Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the 
parking of vehicles is likely to lead to hazardous on-street parking.

 4. (a) If during development work, significant deposits of made ground or indicators 
of potential contamination are discovered, the work shall cease until an 
investigation/ remediation strategy has been agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority and it shall thereafter be implemented by the developer.

(b) Any soils and other materials taken for disposal should be in accordance with 
the requirements of the Waste Management, Duty of Care Regulations. Any soil 
brought onsite should be clean and a soil chemical analysis shall be provided to 
verify imported soils are suitable for the proposed end use.

Page 58



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

(c) A closure report shall be submitted by the developer relating to (a) and (b) 
above and other relevant issues and responses such as any pollution incident 
during the development.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and public safety.

 5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending, revoking and re-
enacting that Order) no development shall be carried out within Classes A, B, C, 
D and E, of Part 1; of Schedule 2 of that Order unless planning permission has 
been granted on an application relating thereto.

Reason: To prevent an overdevelopment of this site

6. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping and boundary 
treatment.  All planting, seeding and turfing comprised in the approved scheme of 
landscaping shall be implemented during the first planting season following 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the earlier.  Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being seriously damaged or 
diseased within 10 years of planting shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with trees or shrubs of similar size and species, unless the Authority gives written 
consent to any variation.  Any boundary fences or walls or similar structures as 
may be approved shall be erected before first occupation of the building to which 
they relate.  

Reason:  Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and to protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality.

 7. The Construction Management Plan shall be carried out in strict accordance with 
the details submitted and approved as part of this application.

Reason: In the interests of local amenity and highway safety. 

Informatives

 1. Working hours during the demolition and construction phases, (including 
deliveries) should be restricted to Monday to Friday 07:30 hours - 18:30 hours; 
Saturday 08:00 to 13:00 hours; with no such work on Sundays or Public 
Holidays.

 2. The applicant is advised that the disposal of demolition waste by incineration is 
also contrary to Waste Management Legislation.  It is thus recommend that 
bonfires not be had at the site. The applicant is also reminded that it is in their 
best interest to control emissions and dust from the demolition and construction 
phase through following best practice guidance. This is to minimise air pollution 
and dust creation which is on the list of statutory nuisances contained within the 

Page 59



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

Environmental Protection Act 1990.  

 3. The development involves demolition and, owing to the likelihood of the buildings 
containing or being constructed of asbestos, the applicant should contact the 
Health and Safety Executive for advice.  Any asbestos found on site must be 
removed in a controlled manner by an appropriately qualified operator.

4. The proposed development is within a road which has a formal street numbering 
scheme and it will be necessary for the Council to allocate postal address(es) to 
the new property/ies.  To discuss the arrangements, you are invited to write to 
Street Naming & Numbering, Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Gibson 
Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, West Malling, Kent, ME19 4LZ or to e-mail to 
addresses@tmbc.gov.uk.  To avoid difficulties for first occupiers, you are advised 
to do this as soon as possible and, in any event, not less than one month before 
the new properties are ready for occupation.

Contact: Rebecca Jarman

Page 60



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 5 July 2017

TM/17/01167/FL

3 St Hildas Plaxtol Sevenoaks Kent TN15 0QN 

Demolition of existing outbuildings, erection of 3 bed detached dwelling with associated 
parking and landscaping

For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information.

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT 
INFORMATION

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Development Control
	5 TM/16/03630/OA - Nepicar Sand Quarry, Maidstone Road, Platt
	Map

	6 TM/17/00798/FL - Land at Long Wood, Off Crouch Lane, Borough Green
	Map

	7 TM/17/01167/FL - 3 St Hildas, Plaxtol
	Map

	9 Exclusion of Press and Public

